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This Form 10-Q/A amends the Company�s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 27, 2004, as filed on May 6,
2004, to include adjustments to its previously filed consolidated financial statements related to (i) lease accounting under the provisions of
FASB Technical Bulletin No. 85-3 (FTB 85-3), (ii) certain inventory resale activity under the provisions of Emerging Issues Task Force release
99-19 (EITF 99-19) and (iii) the classification of outstanding borrowings under the revolving loan facility as current
liabilities, rather than as long-term debt as previously reported, because cash receipts controlled by the lenders are
used to reduce outstanding debt, and the Company does not meet the criteria of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 6 �Classification of Short Term Obligations Expected to be Refinanced� (FAS 6), to reclassify the debt as
long-term, as well as to reflect certain previously unrecorded and immaterial audit adjustments related to the periods
affected. This Form 10-Q/A further amends the Company�s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
March 27, 2004 to include adjustments to its previously filed consolidated statement of cash flows for the first quarter
of 2004 and 2003 to reflect the reporting of revolving loan borrowings and repayments separately on a gross basis as
required under Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 95 �Statement of Cash Flows� (FAS 95). It also amends
the previously filed Form 10-Q to include in Part 1, Item 4, �Controls and Procedures,� the revised conclusion of the
principal executive officer and principal financial officer regarding the effectiveness of the Company�s disclosure
controls and procedures as of March 27, 2004. No attempt has been made in this Form 10-Q/A to modify or update
other disclosures as presented in the Form 10-Q except to conform to changes as required by applicable law.
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This and other of our public filings or public statements contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities
Act, Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, that involve a number of
risks and uncertainties. These statements relate to future events or our future financial performance with respect to our financial condition,
results of operations, business plans and strategies, operating efficiencies or synergies, competitive positions, growth opportunities for existing
products such as private label merchandise, plans and objectives of management, capital expenditures, growth and maturation of our stores and
other matters. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our or our industry�s actual
results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from those expressed or implied by any forward-looking
statements. In some cases, you can
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identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as �may,� �will,� �could,� �would,� �should,� �expect,� �plan,� �anticipate,� �intend,� �believe,� �estimate,�
�predict,� �potential,� �pro forma,� �seek,� or �continue� or the negative of those terms or other comparable terminology. These statements are only
predictions and such expectations may prove to be incorrect. Some of the things that could cause our actual results to differ substantially from
our expectations are:

•  the outcome of the legal proceedings that have been instituted against us and others following announcement of
our merger agreement with Duane Reade Acquisition Corp. and Duane Reade Shareholders, LLC;

•  the actual terms of certain financings that will be obtained for the merger;

•  costs, fees, expenses and charges related to the merger;

•  failure to consummate the merger;

•  the competitive environment in the drugstore industry in general and in the metropolitan New York area;

•  the ability to open and operate new stores on a profitable basis and to increase sales in existing stores;

•  the continued efforts of health maintenance organizations, managed care organizations, pharmacy benefit
management companies and other third party payers to reduce prescription reimbursement rates;

•  the continued efforts of federal, state and municipal government agencies to reduce Medicaid reimbursement
rates, modify Medicare benefits and/or reduce prescription drug costs;

•  the strength of the economy in general and the economic conditions in the metropolitan New York area, in
particular, including changes in consumer purchasing power and/or spending patterns;

•  changes in cost of goods and services;

•  trends in the healthcare industry, including continued conversion of various prescription drugs to over-the-counter
medications and the increasing market share on the part of internet-based and mail-order-based providers;

•  changes in federal and state laws and regulations, including the potential impact of changes in regulations
surrounding the importation of pharmaceuticals from foreign countries;

•  liability and other claims asserted against us including the items discussed under Part II, Item 1-Legal
Proceedings;

•  changes in our operating strategy or development plans;

•  our ability to attract, hire and retain qualified personnel, including our ability to attract qualified pharmacists;

•  our significant indebtedness;

•  interest rate fluctuations and changes in capital market conditions or other events affecting our ability to obtain
necessary financing on favorable terms to fund the anticipated growth of our business;

•  labor disturbances, including any resulting from the suspension or termination of our collective bargaining
agreements;
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•  the continued impact of, or new occurrences of, terrorist attacks in the New York metropolitan area and any
actions that may be taken by federal, state or municipal authorities in response to or in anticipation of such
occurrences;

•  changes in our acquisition and capital expenditure plans;

•  our ability to continue to secure suitable new store locations under acceptable lease terms;

•  our ability to successfully implement and manage new computer systems and technologies;

•  our ability to limit fraud and shrink;

•  demographic changes; and

•  other risks and uncertainties detailed from time to time in our filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the �SEC�).

We undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or
otherwise, after the date of this filing. We do not, nor does any other person, assume responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of those
statements.

We caution you that the areas of risk described above may not be exhaustive. We operate in a continually changing business environment, and
new risks emerge from time to time. Management cannot predict such new risks, nor can it assess the impact, if any, of such risks on our
businesses or the extent to which any risk or combination of risks, may cause actual results to differ materially from those projected in any
forward-looking statements. In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, you should keep in mind that any forward-looking statement
made in this filing might not occur.
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PART I�FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1.     FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Duane Reade Inc.
Consolidated  Statements of Operations (Unaudited)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Restated
For the 13 Weeks Ended
March 27, March 29,
2004 2003

Net sales $ 383,310 $ 355,994
Cost of sales 306,808 285,414
Gross profit 76,502 70,580
Selling, general & administrative expenses 58,643 53,873
Labor contingency expense 1,100 �
Transaction expense 1,102 �
Depreciation and amortization 9,066 7,558
Store pre-opening expenses 157 416

70,068 61,847
Operating income 6,434 8,733
Interest expense, net 3,437 3,517
Debt extinguishment � 105
Income before income taxes 2,997 5,111
Income tax provision 1,245 1,950
Net income $ 1,752 $ 3,161
Per common share�basic
Net income $ 0.07 $ 0.13
Weighted average common shares outstanding 24,409 24,038
Per common share�diluted
Net income $ 0.07 $ 0.13
Weighted average common shares outstanding 24,651 24,368

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Duane Reade Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets (Unaudited)
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Restated
March 27, December 27,
2004 2003

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash $ 1,285 $ 1,252
Receivables, net 58,209 53,430
Inventories, net 249,400 258,139
Deferred income taxes 10,103 10,811
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 17,751 20,263
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 336,748 343,895
Property and equipment, net 191,055 189,469
Goodwill, net 161,625 161,318
Deferred income taxes 13,393 13,854
Other assets 99,651 88,836
TOTAL ASSETS $ 802,472 $ 797,372

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 76,837 $ 85,528
Accrued interest 3,582 1,633
Other accrued expenses 32,477 30,086
Current portion of debt 75,438 70,353
Current portion of capital lease obligations 431 422
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 188,765 188,022
Long-term debt 201,032 201,032
Capital lease obligations, less current portion 992 1,103
Deferred income taxes � �
Other non-current liabilities 82,612 79,954
TOTAL LIABILITIES 473,401 470,111
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 11)
Stockholders� equity
Preferred stock, $0.01 par; authorized 5,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding: none � �
Series A preferred stock, $0.01 par; authorized 75,000 shares; issued and outstanding: none � �
Common stock, $0.01 par; authorized 75,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding; 24,410,306
and 24,403,550 shares, respectively 244 244
Paid-in capital 331,974 331,917
Retained deficit (3,147 ) (4,900 )
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY 329,071 327,261
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY $ 802,472 $ 797,372

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Duane Reade Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)
(In thousands)

Restated
For the 13 Weeks Ended
March 27, March 29,
2004 2003

Cash flows provided by operating activities:
Net income $ 1,752 $ 3,161
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 9,544 8,065
Deferred income taxes 1,169 1,950
Debt extinguishment � �
Non-cash rent expense 1,902 2,460
Changes in operating assets and liabilities (net of the effect of acquisitions):
Receivables (4,779 ) (150 )
Inventories 9,512 (11,759 )
Accounts payable (8,690 ) 3,124
Prepaid and accrued expenses 6,303 474
Other assets and liabilities, net (4,520 ) (3,578 )
NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 12,193 3,747
Cash flows used in investing activities:
Capital expenditures (7,862 ) (14,250 )
Lease acquisition, customer file and other costs (9,257 ) (6,659 )
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (17,119 ) (20,909 )
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayment of term notes � (991 )
Retirement of senior subordinated notes � (1,621 )
Borrowings from revolving credit facility 391,344 83,000
Repayments of revolving credit facility (386,259 ) (66,000 )
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 56 �
Deferred financing costs (80 ) �
Repayments of capital lease obligations (102 ) (158 )
NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES 4,959 14,230
Net increase (decrease) in cash 33 (2,932 )
Cash at beginning of period 1,252 4,183
Cash at end of period $ 1,285 $ 1,251

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited, dollars in thousands, except per share data)

1.   Basis of Presentation

The Unaudited Consolidated Interim Financial Statements included herein reflect all adjustments which, in the opinion of management, are
necessary to present fairly the results of operations, financial position and cash flows of Duane Reade Inc. (the �Company�), and have been
prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the same accounting principles followed in the preparation of the Company�s annual
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 27, 2003. These Unaudited Consolidated Interim Financial Statements should be
read in conjunction with the Company�s financial statements included in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 27, 2003
and related amendments. The Unaudited Consolidated Interim Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries.
All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated. Cost of sales includes all store occupancy-related costs and
expenses, consisting of lease and sublease-related income and expenses, other recurring real estate-related income and expenses primarily from
sales and terminations of leases related to store closings and relocations, sales of market-related data, store utility costs, warehouse expenses and
distribution costs. The Company reflects promotional allowances from vendors as a reduction of cost of sales or advertising expense, depending
on the nature of the allowance, when such advertising or promotions have been completed and the related allowances have been earned. Other
recurring real estate-related income amounted to $0.8 million in the quarter ended March 27, 2004 compared to $1.2 million in the quarter ended
March 29, 2003. There was no income realized from the sale of market related data in the first quarter of either 2004 or 2003. Earnings per share
amounts are calculated based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period and may not add due to rounding. The
results for the interim periods presented are not necessarily indicative of the results expected for the full year.

The Company has no assets or operations other than its investment in its subsidiary guarantors. Accordingly, the Unaudited Consolidated
Interim Financial Statements present the combined assets and operations of the subsidiary guarantors. The guarantees of the subsidiary
guarantors, which relate to the Company�s obligations under its registered debt and credit agreement, are full and unconditional, joint and several.

2.   Restatements

The Company has restated its consolidated financial statements to conform certain accounting practices to the
following accounting requirements:

1.     Lease accounting under FASB Technical Bulletin No. 85-3 (FTB 85-3)

2.     Gross versus net sales and cost of sales accounting under Emerging Issues Task Force Release 99-19 (EITF
99-19)

3.     Balance sheet classification of outstanding loan borrowings under the revolving loan facility because cash
receipts controlled by the lenders are used to reduce outstanding debt, and the Company does not meet the criteria
under FASB No. 6 �Classification of Short-Term Obligations Expected to be Refinanced� (FAS 6) to reclassify the debt
as long-term

4.     Reporting of revolving loan facility borrowings and repayments under FASB No. 95 �Statement of Cash Flows�
(FAS 95)

8
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2.   Restatements (Continued)

5.     Restatements to include certain previously unrecorded and immaterial audit adjustments related to the periods
affected.

In connection with these restatements, the Company obtained from the administrative agent under the amended
asset-based revolving loan facility, an acknowledgement confirming that these restatements do not constitute an event
of technical default, as defined in the document governing the amended asset-based revolving loan facility.

Based upon a review of the Company�s lease accounting methods the Company determined that its previous policy of
commencing rent expense when a store opens (and not at the commencement of the lease) was inconsistent with FTB
85-3. For construction purposes, the Company often takes possession of leased properties prior to opening. In
accordance with FTB 85-3, the Company will record rent expense commencing on the date of possession. The
Company is restating its previously issued financial statements to reflect certain resales of retail inventory on a gross
revenue and cost of sales basis in accordance with EITF 99-19, rather than on a net basis as previously reported. The
Company is restating its previously reported balance sheets for March 27, 2004 and December 27, 2003 to reflect the
classification of outstanding borrowings under the revolving loan facility as current liabilities rather than as long-term
debt, as previously reported. The change is being made because cash receipts controlled by the lenders are used to
reduce outstanding debt, and the Company does not meet the criteria of FAS 6 to reclassify the debt as long-term. This
is not an indication that this credit facility is expected to be retired within the next year. This facility expires in July
2008 and the Company intends to continue to access it for its working capital needs throughout the remaining term.
The Company has also restated its consolidated statement of cash flows for the first quarter of 2004 and 2003 to
reflect the reporting of revolving loan facility borrowings and repayments separately on a gross basis as required
under FAS 95. The effect of these restatements on the consolidated financial statements for the thirteen weeks ended
March 27, 2004 and March 29, 2003 is shown below. The Company has identified the source of the restatements from
lease accounting (FTB 85-3), gross sales and cost of sales (EITF 99-19) and other previously unrecorded and
immaterial adjustments (Other).

9
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2.   Restatements (Continued)

Duane Reade Inc.

Consolidated Profit & Loss Restatement

(in thousands)

For the 13  Weeks Ended
March 27, March 29,
2004 2003

Sales as reported $ 349,550 $ 333,622
adjustment�EITF 99-19 33,760 22,372
as restated $ 383,310 $ 355,994

Cost of Sales as reported $ 273,785 $ 263,433
adjustment�EITF 99-19 33,760 22,372
adjustment�FTB 85-3 308 639
adjustment�Other (1,045 ) (1,030 )
as restated $ 306,808 $ 285,414

Gross Profit as reported $ 75,765 $ 70,189
adjustment�FTB 85-3 (308 ) (639 )
adjustment�Other 1,045 1,030
as restated $ 76,502 $ 70,580

Selling, general and administrative expenses as reported $ 58,643 $ 53,574
adjustment�Other � 299
as restated $ 58,643 $ 53,873

Earnings before tax as reported $ 2,260 $ 5,020
adjustment 737 91
as restated $ 2,997 $ 5,111

Income tax provison as reported $ 904 $ 1,908
adjustment 341 42
as restated $ 1,245 $ 1,950

Net income as reported $ 1,356 $ 3,112
adjustment 396 49
as restated $ 1,752 $ 3,161

Net income per common share�basic as reported $ 0.06 $ 0.13
adjustment 0.01 �
as restated $ 0.07 $ 0.13

Net income per common share�diluted as reported $ 0.06 $ 0.13
adjustment 0.01 �
as restated $ 0.07 $ 0.13
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2.   Restatements (Continued)

Duane Reade Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheet Restatement

(in thousands)

As at March 27, 2004 As at December 27, 2003
Caption affected by restatement As Reported Adjustment  As Restated  As Reported  Adjustment  As Restated 
Receivables $ 59,124 $ (915 ) $ 58,209 $ 53,689 $ (259 ) $ 53,430
Inventory 250,029 (629 ) 249,400 259,765 (1,626 ) 258,139
Current portion of deferred income taxes 7,923 2,180 10,103 8,150 2,661 10,811
Prepaid & other current assets 17,751 � 17,751 19,504 759 20,263
Total current assets 336,112 636 336,748 342,360 1,535 343,895
Deferred income taxes 4,940 8,453 13,393 5,543 8,311 13,854
Total assets $ 793,383 $ 9,089 $ 802,472 $ 787,526 $ 9,846 $ 797,372
Accounts payable $ 76,837 $ � $ 76,837 $ 85,258 $ 270 $ 85,528
Accrued expenses 30,981 1,496 32,477 27,489 2,597 30,086
Current portion of debt � 75,438 75,438 � 70,353 70,353
Total current liabilities 111,831 76,934 188,765 114,802 73,220 188,022
Long-term debt 276,470 (75,438 ) 201,032 271,385 (70,353 ) 201,032
Other noncurrent liabilities 65,357 17,255 82,612 62,915 17,039 79,954
Total liabilities $ 454,650 $ 18,751 $ 473,401 $ 450,205 $ 19,906 $ 470,111
Retained earnings $ 6,515 $ (9,662 ) $ (3,147 ) $ 5,160 $ (10,060 ) $ (4,900 )
Total stockholders� equity $ 338,733 $ (9,662 ) $ 329,071 $ 337,321 $ (10,060 ) $ 327,261
Total liabilities and stockholders� equity $ 793,383 $ 9,089 $ 802,472 $ 787,526 $ 9,846 $ 797,372

The adjustments to other noncurrent liabilities and noncurrent deferred income taxes relate to lease accounting under
FTB 85-3. The adjustments to debt relate to the classification of the revolving loan balance as a current liability as
discussed above. All other balance sheet adjustments relate to other previously unrecorded and immaterial
adjustments.
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2.   Restatements (Continued)

Duane Reade Inc.

Consolidated Cash Flow Restatement

(in thousands)

For the 13 Weeks Ended
March 27. March 29,
2004 2003

Net income as reported $ 1,356 $ 3,112
adjustment 396 49
as restated $ 1,752 $ 3,161

Deferred income taxes as reported $ 830 $ 1,909
adjustment 339 41
as restated $ 1,169 $ 1,950

Non-cash rent expense and other as reported $ 1,594 $ 2,323
adjustment 308 137
as restated $ 1,902 $ 2,460

Receivables as reported $ (5,435 ) $ (150 )
adjustment 656 �
as restated $ (4,779 ) $ (150 )

Inventories as reported $ 10,509 $ (11,785 )
adjustment (997 ) 26
as restated $ 9,512 $ (11,759 )

Accounts payable as reported $ (8,421 ) $ 3,056
adjustment (269 ) 68
as restated $ (8,690 ) $ 3,124

Prepaid and accrued expenses as reported $ 6,645 $ 693
adjustment (342 ) (219 )
as restated $ 6,303 $ 474

Other assets and liabilities, net as reported $ (4,428 ) $ (3,476 )
adjustment (92 ) (102 )
as restated $ (4,520 ) $ (3,578 )

Net borrowings (repayments) on revolving credit facility as reported $ 5,085 $ 17,000
adjustment (5,085 ) (17,000 )
as restated $ � $ �

Borrowings from revolving credit facility as reported $ � $ �
adjustment 391,344 83,000
as restated $ 391,344 $ 83,000

Repayments of revolving credit facility as reported $ � $ �
adjustment (386,259 ) (66,000 )
as restated $ (386,259 ) $ (66,000 )
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On December 23, 2003, the Company announced that it had entered into a definitive merger agreement to be acquired by Duane Reade
Acquisition Corp. (�Duane Reade Acquisition�), an affiliate of Oak Hill Capital Partners, L.P. (�Oak Hill�). Under the terms of the merger
agreement, which remains subject to the approval of the Company�s stockholders, such stockholders would receive $17.00 per share in cash,
without interest. The purchase price represents a 22.8% premium over the $13.84 per share average closing price of the Company�s common
stock for the 30 trading days immediately preceding the announcement of the merger transaction. The aggregate value of the merger transaction
exceeds $740 million, including the repayment of indebtedness. The transaction was unanimously approved by the independent members of
Duane Reade�s board of directors. The equity financing necessary for the merger will be provided by Oak Hill and an affiliate equity fund, Oak
Hill Capital Management Partners, L.P. and any other investor who Oak Hill selects to participate in the transaction as an equity co-investor. The
debt financing necessary for the merger will be provided by a syndicate of banking institutions led by Banc of America Securities LLC.
Mr. Anthony J. Cuti, the Company�s Chairman, President and CEO, the Company�s Senior Vice Presidents and certain other members of
management will, at the closing of the transaction, have equity interests in the acquiring entity. The closing of this transaction is subject to
certain terms and conditions, including receipt of stockholder approval and the proceeds from the financing to be provided by third parties. The
merger agreement is subject to a termination fee of $10.0 million plus reimbursent of expenses of up to $2.0 million, all of which is to be paid by
the Company if the merger agreement is terminated under certain circumstances.

4.   National Labor Relations Board Recommendation

The Company is a party to a National Labor Relations Board (�NLRB�) administrative proceeding regarding a dispute with the Allied Trades
Council over whether a negotiating impasse was reached between the Company and the union in August of 2001. The Allied Trades Council
represents employees in 139 of the Company�s stores pursuant to a collective bargaining agreement that expired on August 31, 2001. The
employees have been working pursuant to the terms of the Company�s December 6, 2001 implemented contract with the ATC, which expires on
August 31, 2004. The Company believes an impasse did occur and as a result, the Company had the right to implement its latest contract
proposal at that time which included wage increases, health and welfare benefits, vacation and sick benefits and a 401(k) retirement program.
The Company discontinued making additional payments into the various funds associated with the union as it was providing many of these
benefits on a direct basis and because its past contributions to these funds had caused these funds to be in a position of excessive overfunding. In
addition, the Company had concerns that its past payments into these funds were not being managed in a way to ensure they were being properly
utilized for the benefit of the Company�s employees. On February 18, 2004, an Administrative Law Judge (�ALJ�) who had reviewed various
matters related to this proceeding issued a decision and related recommendation, which concluded that the parties were not at impasse. The
remedies recommended by the ALJ included, among other things, a requirement for the Company to make its employees whole by reimbursing
them for expenses ensuing from the failure to make contributions to the union funds and to make such funds whole, plus interest. If this
recommendation is adopted by the full NLRB and enforced by the circuit court of appeals, it could result in the Company being required to
contribute amounts that have yet to be determined into the union�s pension benefit, health and welfare and vacation funds. Any potential required
contributions resulting from a final judicial determination of this matter would potentially be subject to offset by the amounts that the Company
had funded since it implemented its final contract proposal for these same benefits that were paid for its Allied Trades Council employees.
Because this is just the first phase of a long and complicated administrative process likely to be followed by a full judicial review of all of the
facts and circumstances, the final outcome cannot be reliably determined at this time. The ALJ�s recommendation is not a binding order and has
no force and effect of law. Rather, it is a recommendation to the full NLRB in Washington D.C., which will conduct a complete review at some
point in the future and decide to uphold, reject or modify the
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recommendation. The full NLRB decision is also subject to judicial review by the circuit court of appeals and a compliance hearing before any
financial remedy can be determined. While there can be no definitive assurance, the Company has been advised by its outside labor counsel that
it has numerous meritorious defenses and arguments in response to the ALJ�s recommendation.

In light of the foregoing, while it is the Company�s belief that the final financial outcome of this litigation cannot be determined at this time,
under the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (�FAS�) No. 5 which addresses these contingencies, the Company recorded a
pre-tax charge of $12.6 million for the year ended December 27, 2003 and an additional pre-tax charge of $1.1 million in the quarter ended
March 27, 2004. These charges represent the current best estimate of the loss that would result upon application of the ALJ�s recommendation.
The Company notes that such charges were based upon the facts available to it at the time. In the Company�s opinion, such charges could be
subject to significant modification in the future, upon review by the full NLRB, the Federal Circuit Court of Appeals, completion of a
compliance hearing and any appeals relating to the outcome of that hearing. These charges reflect the amount of contributions that the Company
did not make into the union benefit funds for the period from the August 31, 2001 expiration of the contract through March 27, 2004, reduced by
a portion of the benefits the Company paid directly to or for the benefit of these employees over the same period. It also includes an interest cost
for these net contributions from the date they would have been paid until March 27, 2004. While this represents the Company�s current best
estimate of the ALJ�s recommendation, the Company believes that the actual range of loss in this matter could be from $0, if the ALJ�s
recommendation is not followed to approximately $28 million, if the ALJ�s recommendation is upheld and there is no offset for any benefits paid
over this period.

Until such time as further legal developments warrant a change in the application of this accounting standard, or until this matter is resolved, the
Company will record additional non-cash pre-tax charges, which are calculated on the same basis as the charge recorded in the 2003 financial
statements. The Company currently estimates that the charge in 2004 will approximate $4.4 million.

5.   Acquisitions

During the first quarters of fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, the Company acquired pharmacy customer files, which were merged into existing stores,
and the operations, including certain lease-related assets, of a number of pharmacy establishments, which were operated as new stores. The table
below provides details of this acquisition activity for each of the periods presented (dollars in millions).

For the 13 Weeks Ended
March 27,
2004

March 29,
2003

Customer prescription files 4 4
Pharmacy establishments � 2
Total acquisitions 4 6
Cash consideration $ 6.6 $ 5.6
Purchase price allocation:
Identifiable intangibles $ 5.7 $ 3.5
Goodwill 0.3 0.9
Inventory 0.8 0.9
Property and equipment � 0.5
Other assets and liabilities, net (0.2 ) (0.2 )
Total $ 6.6 $ 5.6

14

Edgar Filing: DUANE READE INC - Form 10-Q/A

17



The acquired operations have been included in the consolidated statement of operations from the date of acquisition and did not have a material
effect on sales, results of operations or earnings per share of the Company for the periods presented.

6.   Inventory

At March 27, 2004, inventories, consisting solely of finished goods, would have been greater by $0.6 million if they had been valued on a lower
of first-in, first-out (�FIFO�) cost or market basis instead of a last-in, first-out (�LIFO�) basis.

7.   Debt

Debt is composed of the following (in thousands):

Restated Restated
Description of Instrument March 27, 2004 Dec. 27, 2003
Asset-Based Revolving Loan Facility $ 75,438 $ 70,353
Total Current Debt $ 75,438 $ 70,353
2.1478% Senior Convertible Notes due 2022 $ 201,032 $ 201,032
Total Non-current Debt $ 201,032 $ 201,032
Total Debt $ 276,470 $ 271,385

2.1478% Senior Convertible Notes due April 16, 2022:   On April 16, 2002, the Company completed an offering of $381.5
million aggregate principal amount of Senior Convertible Notes maturing on April 16, 2022 (the �Convertible Notes�).
The Convertible Notes were issued at a price of $572.76 per note (57.276% of the principal amount at maturity) and
pay cash interest at the rate of 2.1478% per year on the principal amount at maturity, payable semi-annually in arrears
on April 16 and October 16 of each year beginning on October 16, 2002, until April 16, 2007. After that date, interest
will accrue on the notes as amortization of the original issue discount representing a yield to maturity of 3.75% per
year, computed on a semi-annual bond equivalent basis. In December 2002, the Company repurchased a total of $30.5
million principal value of the Convertible Notes at an average purchase price of $486.99 per $1,000 note, resulting in
the remaining net outstanding balance of $201.0 million.

As more fully detailed in the Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed with the SEC on June 21, 2002, holders of the Convertible Notes may
convert each $1,000 in principal amount of their convertible notes into 14.1265 shares of the Company�s common stock, subject to adjustment,
only if (1) the sale price of the Company�s common stock reaches the �conversion trigger price,� as defined, of $44.60 per share, (2) the trading
price of the notes falls below 103% of the �average conversion value,� as defined, (3) the notes are called for redemption, or (4) specified
corporate transactions, including a consolidation, merger, or a transfer of all or substantially all of the Company�s assets have occurred. Upon
conversion, the Company has the right to deliver, in lieu of its common stock, cash or a combination of cash and common stock in an amount as
described in the indenture. These notes are not considered to be potential common shares, and are not included in the calculation of diluted
earnings per share, as the Company intends to settle any conversions in cash.

Holders of the Convertible Notes may require the Company to purchase all or a portion of their notes on April 16, 2007 at a price of $572.76 per
note plus accrued cash interest, if any; on April 16, 2012 at a price of $689.68 per note plus accrued cash interest, if any; and on April 16, 2017
at a price of $830.47 per note plus accrued cash interest, if any. The Company may choose to pay the purchase price of such notes in cash or
common stock or a combination of cash and common stock. In addition, each holder may require the Company to purchase for cash all or a
portion of such holder�s notes at a price equal to the sum of the
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issue price plus accrued original issue discount and accrued cash interest, if any, to the date of purchase if the Company experiences a change of
control. The Company�s planned acquisition by Duane Reade Acquisition would result in a change of control. The Company expects
substantially all holders will exercise this change of control right if this transaction is consummated.

The Company may redeem for cash all or a portion of the convertible notes at any time after April 16, 2007, at a price equal to the sum of the
issue price plus accrued original issue discount and accrued cash interest, if any, to the redemption date.

Revolving credit facility:   On July 21, 2003, the Company completed the refinancing of the Fourth Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement entered into by the Company on July 10, 2001 (the �Senior Credit Agreement�). The new
credit facility (the �Credit Agreement�) is an asset-based revolving loan which uses a pre-determined percentage of the
current value of the Company�s inventory, customer prescription files and selected accounts receivable to calculate the
availability of funds eligible to be borrowed up to an aggregate principal amount of $200 million. The obligations of
the Company under the Credit Agreement are secured by substantially all of the assets of the Company. In addition,
the Credit Agreement has been guaranteed by each of the Company�s corporate subsidiaries, and such guarantees are
secured by substantially all assets of such guarantors. The Credit Agreement matures on July 20, 2008.

Under the Credit Agreement, approximately $103.5 million was borrowed and used to repay in full the outstanding balances of Term A, Term B
and revolver borrowings under the Senior Credit Agreement, as well as accumulated interest to the repayment date and certain expenses
associated with the new financing. At March 27, 2004, there was $75.4 million outstanding under the revolving credit facility, and
approximately $123.4 million of remaining availability, net of $1.2 million reserved for standby letters of credit. Obligations under this facility
have been classified as current liabilities because cash receipts controlled by the lenders are used to reduce outstanding debt,
and the Company does not meet the criteria of FAS 6 to reclassify the debt as long-term. The Company intends to
continue to utilize this facility for its working capital needs though the date of its maturity in July 2008. Borrowings
under the Credit Agreement are principally LIBOR-based. The margin on these borrowings is fixed at 1.75% for the
first year, and is subject to a sliding scale adjustment thereafter, based on remaining levels of availability.

The Credit Agreement contains a single fixed charge coverage requirement which only becomes applicable when borrowings exceed 90 percent
of the borrowing base, as defined in the Credit Agreement. Borrowings under the Credit Agreement have not exceeded 90 percent of the
borrowing base and, as a result, the fixed charge covenant did not become applicable during the period. There are no credit ratings related
triggers in the Credit Agreement or in the indenture related to the Convertible Notes.

8.   Net Income per Common Share

Net income per common share is based on the weighted average shares outstanding during each period in accordance with the provisions of FAS
No. 128 �Earnings Per Share.� Basic earnings per share is computed based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during
the period. Diluted earnings per share gives effect to all dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the period. Dilutive potential
common shares include shares issuable upon exercise of the Company�s �in-the-money� stock options. Of the options to purchase 2,215,183 and
1,235,236 shares of common stock outstanding at March 27, 2004 and March 29, 2003, respectively, options to purchase 126,485 shares at
March 27, 2004 and 210,009 shares at March 29, 2003 were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the exercise
prices of such options were greater than the average market price of the common shares and therefore the impact of these shares would be
anti-dilutive. Dilutive potential common shares do not include any potential shares that could be issued relative to the Company�s 2.1478%
Convertible Notes (see Note 6 to these Unaudited Consolidated Interim Financial Statements for a description of the relevant conversion terms
of the Convertible Notes).
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The following table sets forth the computation of net income per common share for the periods presented (in thousands, except per share
amounts):

For the 13 Weeks Ended
 March 27, 
2004

 March 29, 
2003

Net income (restated) $ 1,752 $ 3,161
Weighted average common shares outstanding�basic 24,409 24,038
Potential dilutive shares 242 330
Weighted average common shares outstanding�diluted 24,651 24,368
Net income per common share�basic (restated) $ 0.07 $ 0.13
Net income per common share�diluted (restated) $ 0.07 $ 0.13

9.   Income Taxes

Income taxes are recorded based on the estimated combined statutory tax rates expected to be applicable for the full fiscal year less applicable
employment related tax credits. The effective tax rate is lower than the combined statutory rates, primarily reflecting the impact of these income
tax credits. The effective tax rate of 41.5% recorded in the first quarter of 2004 gives effect to the New York State tax legislation passed in
May 2003 with retroactive application to January 1, 2003. This legislation effectively eliminated certain royalty fee and related interest expense
deductions. The employment tax credits represent the economic benefits earned by us for our participation in various Federal and state hiring
incentive programs. These benefits are based on the number of qualifying employees hired and retained by us for a specified time period.
Employees qualify for these hiring programs primarily as a result of their enrollment in various economic assistance programs.

10.   Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2002, FAS No. 148, �Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation�Transition and Disclosure� was issued. This statement provides
alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation.
The Company has not adopted such voluntary change to the fair value based method. In addition, this statement amends the disclosure
requirements of FAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosures about the method of accounting for stock-based compensation and the effect of
the method used on reported results. As required, the Company adopted the disclosure-only provisions of FAS No. 148 effective in 2002.
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The Company previously adopted FAS No. 123, �Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation� and, as permitted under FAS No. 123, has elected
the disclosure-only provisions. The Company accounts for its stock-based compensation plans under the recognition and measurement principles
of APB Opinion No. 25, �Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,� and related interpretations. There is no stock-based employee compensation
cost reflected in net income, as all options granted under those plans had an exercise price equal to or greater than the market value of the
underlying common stock on the date of grant. The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the Company
had applied the fair value recognition provisions of FAS No. 123 to stock-based employee compensation (dollars in thousands):

For the 13 Weeks Ended
   March 27,   
2004

   March 29,   
2003

Net income, as reported (restated) $ 1,752 $ 3,161
Adjust: Total stock-based employee compensation (expense)/income determined
under fair value based method for all awards, net of related tax effects (1,136 ) 9,395
Pro forma net income (restated) $ 616 $ 12,556
Income per common share:
Basic�as reported (restated) $ 0.07 $ 0.13
Basic�pro forma (restated) $ 0.03 $ 0.52
Diluted�as reported (restated) $ 0.07 $ 0.13
Diluted�pro forma (restated) $ 0.02 $ 0.52

As described in previous SEC filings issued during 2003, the Company cancelled 1,337,449 outstanding stock options during the first quarter of
2003 in connection with the Stock Option Exchange Offer. The pro forma income shown in the table above for the three months ending
March 29, 2003 includes the reversal of pro forma expenses previously disclosed totaling $9.7 million, related to the granting of these original
options. On October 1, 2003, the Company issued 1,320,947 options at an exercise price of $16.55 per share to replace those options exchanged
in connection with the Stock Option Exchange Offer. As a result, beginning in the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company has been incurring pro
forma compensation expense which reflects the fair value of the replacement stock options granted.

The pro forma compensation income (expense) for stock options has been estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the
following assumptions for each of the periods shown: dividend yield of 0%, expected volatility of 50%, risk free interest rate of 6.6% and an
expected term of 8 years. These pro forma disclosures may not be representative of the effects on reported net income for future periods since
options vest over several years and options granted prior to 1995 are not considered.

11.   Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is party to legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. Based on information presently available to management, the
Company believes that it has adequate legal defenses or insurance coverage for these actions and that the ultimate outcome of these actions will
not have a material adverse effect on the financial position, results of operation or cash flows of the Company. In addition, the Company is a
party to the following legal actions and matters:

During 2002, the Company initiated a legal action against its former property insurance carrier in Federal Court in the Southern District of New
York, in an attempt to recover what the Company believes to be a fair and reasonable settlement for the business interruption portion of its claim
originating from the September 11, 2001 World Trade Center terrorist attack, during which the Company�s single highest volume and most
profitable store was completely destroyed. In September 2003, a trial on certain issues

18

Edgar Filing: DUANE READE INC - Form 10-Q/A

21



was held regarding some of the matters at issue in the litigation, including whether the Company would have obtained a renewal of its lease at
the World Trade Center. The Company has received a favorable ruling on this and other legal issues in the case and now the matter has moved
into an appraisal process. The appraisal process involves two appraisers and an umpire (to resolve differences between the two appraisers) who
will determine the amount of insured loss the Company has sustained. The insurance carrier has appealed a number of the rulings by the trial
court. In light of both the early state of the appraisal process and the inherent uncertainty in litigation relating to the appeal, the amount of
additional insurance proceeds, if any, the Company may collect under the terms of its insurance contract with the defendant cannot be
reasonably predicted or determined at this time. In fiscal 2002, the Company received an advance of approximately $9.4 million toward its
business interruption claim that was recognized as a separate component of income in the Company�s consolidated statement of income. In the
event of an unfavorable outcome to the Company, this amount would not be required to be returned to the insurance company.

The Company, Anthony J. Cuti, its Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, John K. Henry, its Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer, and Gary Charboneau, its Senior Vice President of Sales and Marketing, have been named as defendants in connection with
the consolidation of several class action complaints alleging violations of the federal securities laws that were filed from August 2002 through
October 2002. The action, which is in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, is on behalf of shareholders who
purchased Duane Reade Inc.�s common stock between April 1, 2002 and July 24, 2002, inclusive. The complaint, which seeks an unspecified
amount of damages, alleges that the defendants violated the federal securities laws by issuing materially false and misleading statements during
the class period. On December 1, 2003, the district judge granted the Company�s motion to dismiss the plaintiff�s action, with prejudice. The
plaintiffs have filed an appeal. The Company continues to believe that the plaintiffs� actions are completely baseless and wholly without merit,
and intends to continue to vigorously defend itself.

The Company is a defendant in a class action suit in the Federal Court for the Southern District of New York regarding alleged violations of the
Fair Labor Standards Act as to a group of individuals who provided delivery services on a contract basis to the Company. In December 2002, the
judge in the action issued a partial summary judgment in favor of a subclass of the plaintiffs and against the Company. In December 2003, the
Company settled the issue of the amount of its liability to the plaintiffs without any admission of wrongdoing and in an amount consistent with
the Company�s previously established reserves. The amount of attorney�s fees owed to the plaintiffs� attorneys remains an open issue in the case,
and the Company plans to vigorously defend claims by these attorneys for fees. It is not anticipated that the amount of attorneys fees that would
be required to be paid in this matter would be material to the business and operations of the Company.

The Company is a party to related lawsuits, Irving Kroop, et al v. Duane Reade, NY, NY et al, 00 Civ. 9841, et al., instituted by the trustees of
several union benefit funds wherein the funds claim that the Company did not make certain required contributions to these funds from
January 2000 through August 2001. The plaintiffs have recently filed a motion seeking summary judgment of $2.29 million of claims for alleged
underfunding and related penalties and interest. In addition, at various times, the plaintiffs have stated that they believe the Company may owe
additional amounts. However, any additional amounts that the plaintiffs may claim are not known at this time. The Company has filed a motion
opposing these claims. The Company believes that it has made sufficient contributions to these funds and that it has meritorious defenses to the
claims being made by these funds. Accordingly, the Company intends to vigorously defend itself in these matters. At this time, it is not possible
to determine the ultimate outcome of this case or the actual amount of liability the Company may face, if any.
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The Company is involved in an ongoing dispute with Cardinal Health, one of its former suppliers of pharmaceutical products. Both parties have
claims against the other involving, among other things, breach of contract, promissory estoppel and unjust enrichment. Duane Reade is seeking
from Cardinal an unspecified amount of damages and punitive damages of at least $20 million. Cardinal is seeking approximately $18 million in
damages plus attorney�s fees and interest. While there can be no definitive assurance, the Company believes it has counterclaims that offset the
claims against it by Cardinal, as well as meritorious defenses to these claims, and plans to vigorously pursue its affirmative claims and to
vigorously defend itself in this action. Non-party discovery in this case has been concluded and it is expected to go to trial sometime in 2004.

The Company is involved in litigation related to a dispute with the Allied Trades Council, a union representing employees in 139 of its stores.
This litigation is more fully described in Note 3 to these Unaudited Consolidated Interim Financial Statements.

A New York State Tax Appeals Tribunal ruling in a matter involving another company may have an adverse impact upon the Company�s New
York State Franchise Tax filings from years 1999 through 2002. This matter relates to the required combination of affiliated subsidiaries in
recognizing royalty fee and related income for intangible property. The ruling of the Tribunal is subject to further legal appeal and interpretation
in light of the Company�s own specific facts and circumstances. The outcome of this matter, and the resulting amount of additional income tax
expense, if any, cannot be determined by the Company at this time.

Litigation Relating to the Merger Transaction:   Duane Reade is aware of six purported class action complaints challenging
the merger transaction that have been filed in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, referred to as the
�Delaware Complaints,� and three purported class action complaints that have been filed in the Supreme Court of the
State of New York. Two of the New York complaints have been dismissed without prejudice. The other New York
complaint (the �New York Complaint�) is pending, but has not been served on Duane Reade. The Delaware Complaints
name Mr. Cuti and certain other members of the Company�s board of directors and executive officers as well as Duane
Reade as defendants. Four of the Delaware Complaints name Oak Hill as a defendant. The New York Complaint
names Mr. Cuti and certain other members of the Company�s board of directors and executive officers as well as
Duane Reade as defendants. One of the dismissed New York complaints named Oak Hill as a defendant.

The Delaware Complaints were consolidated on January 28, 2004, and on April 8, 2004 the plaintiffs in the Delaware actions filed a
consolidated class action complaint (the �Consolidated Complaint�).

The Consolidated Complaint alleges that defendants failed to disclose material information in the preliminary proxy statement, which was filed
with the SEC on March 19, 2004. Specifically, the Consolidated Complaint alleges that the defendants failed to disclose: (1) the precise nature
of the �Current Employment Agreement Estimated Payments,� as that term is used in the preliminary proxy, and the reasons for these payments:
(2) the materials and data purportedly used by Bear Stearns in calculating the �Current Employment Agreement Estimated Payments,� instead of
the disclosure in the preliminary proxy statement that these calculations were �approximations based on various assumptions since the precise
amounts payable would require actuarial or other expert valuation,� even though Bear Stearns allegedly relied on these calculations; (3) the
methodology, projections and other information used by Bear Stearns to calculate the estimated present value of the company; (4) that the
merger consideration represented an approximately 11.7% premium based upon the trading price of Duane Reade shares on December 22, 2003,
instead of the disclosure in the preliminary proxy that shareholders would be receiving a much higher premium of 22.0%. The Consolidated
Complaint and the New York Complaint allege, among other things, that the defendants purportedly breached duties owed to Duane Reade�s
stockholders in connection with the transaction by failing to: (a) appropriately value Duane Reade as a merger candidate; (b) expose Duane
Reade to the marketplace in an effort to obtain the best transaction
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reasonably available, including to market Duane Reade to industry participants; and (c) adequately ensure that no conflicts of interest exist
between defendants� own interests and their fiduciary obligation to maximize stockholder value. Plaintiffs seek, among other things: an order that
the complaints are properly maintainable as a class action; a declaration that defendants have breached their fiduciary duties and other duties;
injunctive relief; an unspecified amount of monetary damages; attorneys� fees, costs and expenses; and such other and further relief as the court
may deem just and proper. Duane Reade believes these lawsuits are without merit and plans to defend these lawsuits vigorously.

ITEM 2.  MANAGEMENT�S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

General

Our business consists of a wide variety of health and beauty care products, convenience oriented food and general merchandise items and a
pharmacy operation managed to supply customers with their prescription needs. We refer to the non-prescription portion of our business as
front-end sales because most of these sales are processed through the front main check-out sections of our stores. This portion of our business
consists of over-the-counter medications, health and beauty care items, food and beverages, tobacco products, cosmetics, housewares, greeting
cards, photofinishing, photo supplies, seasonal and general merchandise. Health and beauty care products, including over-the-counter items,
represent our highest volume categories within front-end sales. The front-end portion of our business represented 49.9% of our sales in the
quarter ended March 27, 2004 and is characterized by generally higher gross margins that are approximately twice that of our pharmacy or
back-end business. Our front-end business is generally a larger proportion of our total sales than other major drug store chains, which average
35% to 45%, but similar to most other drug store chains, represents a decreasing share of business year after year due to the faster rate of
pharmacy sales growth. Our high percentage of front-end sales is driven by our convenient locations in high traffic residential and commercial
areas. Our pharmacy sales include all items we sell by prescription filled within our retail locations or in our central fill facility and delivered to
our stores or direct to customers. The pharmacy portion of our business is dominated by and dependent upon a number of third party private and
government-sponsored plans that contract with us as an authorized provider of prescriptions.

Third party prescription plans represented 92.0% of our prescription sales in the quarter ended March 27, 2004. The pharmacy portion of our
business is subject to a number of federal, state and local regulations that govern the conduct of this business. Pharmacy sales have been among
the fastest growing retail categories over the last several years due to a number of favorable demographic and industry trends such as the aging
of the population, expanding penetration of third party private and government-sponsored coverage and the increasing usage of prescription
drugs to improve quality of life and in place of medical procedures. Along with the fast pace of growth in this area have come generally higher
rates of product cost inflation, resulting in an increased focus on the part of both government and private plans to control their costs of providing
these benefits. As a result, pharmacy gross margins have been under pressure.

During 2003, President Bush signed legislation that will expand Medicare coverage of senior citizens� prescriptions. This new Medicare coverage
is planned to take effect in 2006 and is expected to result in decreased pharmacy margins resulting from lower reimbursement rates than our
current margins on customer-paid cash prescriptions. In June 2004, a temporary senior citizen discount program furnished under this Medicare
legislation is expected to be implemented and will remain in effect until the full Medicare program takes effect in 2006. This temporary program
is also expected to result in lower pharmacy margins than those realized from our customer-paid cash prescription business.
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In fiscal 2003, New York State reduced Medicaid prescription reimbursement rates, adversely impacting our pharmacy gross margins. Recent
New York State budget proposals also include the possibility of additional reductions in Medicaid reimbursement rates.

While remaining one of the fastest growing retail categories in 2003, the industry as a whole experienced substantially reduced rates of
pharmacy same-store sales growth resulting from a decline in the demand for hormonal replacement drugs, conversion of some high volume
prescription drugs to over-the-counter status, increased levels of required co-payments by insurers, increased utilization of lower priced generic
medications and reductions in coverage resulting from high unemployment rates. These trends continued to be operative throughout the first
quarter of 2004.

We operate approximately 85% of our 243 stores in New York City and therefore our financial performance is heavily influenced by the local
economy. We analyze a number of economic indicators specific to New York City to gauge the health of this economy including unemployment
rates, job creation, gross city product and bridge and tunnel commuter traffic patterns. We also analyze market share data, same-store sales
trends, average store sales and sales per square foot data among other key performance indicators to monitor our overall performance.

The New York City economy continued to experience higher rates of unemployment than the national economy overall. March unemployment
data for New York City indicated an unemployment rate of 7.9% compared to a national average of 5.7%. While the local economy still lags the
national trend, the city did not experience continued job losses during the quarter and has begun to report a rising rate of tax revenues. These
trends reflect an improved fiscal situation for the city overall that is consistent with the early stages of an improving local economy.

In connection with the merger, the Company filed a preliminary proxy statement on March 19, 2004 and intends to file additional relevant
materials with the SEC, including a definitive proxy statement, and the acquiring entities will file other relevant documents with the SEC.
BECAUSE THOSE DOCUMENTS WILL CONTAIN IMPORTANT INFORMATION, HOLDERS OF DUANE READE COMMON STOCK
ARE URGED TO READ THEM, IF AND WHEN THEY BECOME AVAILABLE. When filed with the SEC, they will be available for free
(along with any other documents and reports filed by Duane Reade with the SEC) at its website, www.sec.gov, and Duane Reade stockholders
will receive information at an appropriate time on how to obtain the definitive proxy statement for free from Duane Reade. A special meeting of
Duane Reade�s stockholders will be convened as soon as practicable after the filing of definitive proxy materials with the SEC. We currently
anticipate consummating the merger by the end of June 2004.

Duane Reade Shareholders, LLC, Duane Reade Holdings, Inc. and Duane Reade Acquisition were formed as the acquiring entities at the
direction of the equity sponsors, which currently include Oak Hill, Oak Hill Capital Management Partners, L.P. and certain members of Duane
Reade�s management. Andrew J. Nathanson and Tyler J. Wolfram are the initial directors of each newly formed Delaware corporation. These
entities and their directors and officers may be deemed to be participants in the solicitation of proxies in connection with the proposed
transaction. As of the date of this report, Mr. Nathanson has an indirect interest (through his participation in an investment partnership) of less
than 1% in the outstanding shares of the common stock of Duane Reade and none of the other forgoing participants has any direct or indirect
interest, by security holdings or otherwise, in Duane Reade.

Duane Reade and its directors and executive officers may be deemed to be participants in the solicitation of proxies from its stockholders in
connection with the proposed transaction. Certain information regarding the participants and their interest in the solicitation is set forth in Duane
Reade�s Amendment No.1 to its Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on April 26, 2004. Stockholders may obtain additional
information regarding the interests of such participants by reading the preliminary proxy statement and the definitive proxy statement when it
becomes available.
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Restatements

The consolidated financial statements included herein reflect the following restatements:

(1)   On March 10, 2005, as a result of changes in accounting practices required to conform to the lease accounting requirements under FASB
Technical Bulletin No. 85-3 (FTB 85-3) and the requirements for reporting certain revenues on a gross versus net basis under Emerging Issues
Task Force release 99-19 (EITF 99-19), we filed an 8-K announcing a restatement of our previously reported financial statements for the 2000
through 2003 fiscal years and the interim periods of 2004 and 2003, up to and including the nine months ended September 25, 2004. We
determined, based upon a review of our lease-related accounting methods, as well as discussions with our independent auditors and Audit
Committee, that our previous policy of commencing rent expense when a store opens (and not at the commencement of the lease) was
inconsistent with FTB 85-3. For construction purposes, we often take possession of leased properties prior to opening. In accordance with
FTB 85-3, we will record rent expense commencing on the date of possession.

(2)   We restated reported sales and cost of sales to reflect revenues from resales of certain retail inventory on a gross
basis rather than on a net basis as previously reported. These transactions have experienced significant growth over the
last few years and this change reflects the need to conform our accounting practice to the provisions of EITF 99-19.
The restatements relating to the resales had no net effect on net income or cash flows from operations, as the amount
of increase in net sales is equal to the amount of increase in cost of sales as the profit margin on these sales had
previously been recorded to cost of goods sold. Pharmacy same-store sales do not include such resales.

(3)   We have restated our previously reported balance sheets for March 27, 2004 and December 27, 2003 to reflect
the classification of outstanding borrowings under the revolving loan facility as current liabilities rather than as
long-term debt, as previously reported.  The change is being made because cash receipts controlled by the lenders are
used to reduce outstanding debt, and we do not meet the criteria of FAS 6 to reclassify the debt as long-term. This is
not an indication that this credit facility is expected to be retired within the next year. This facility expires in July
2008, and we intend to continue to access it for our working capital needs throughout its remaining term.

(4)   We have restated our consolidated statement of cash flows for the first quarter of 2004 and 2003 to reflect the
reporting of revolving loan facility borrowings and repayments separately on a gross basis as required under FAS 95.

In addition, we restated our financial results to include certain previously unrecorded and immaterial audit
adjustments relating to the periods affected. These restatements are included in the discussion of our results of
operations below and within the Consolidated Financial Statements presented elsewhere in this filing. See Note 2 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements for a further discussion of these restatements. In connection with these
restatements, we obtained from the administrative agent under the amended asset-based revolving loan facility, an
acknowledgement confirming that these restatements do not constitute an event of technical default, as defined in the
document governing the revolving loan facility.
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Results of Operations

For the first quarter ended March 27, 2004, we achieved net sales of $383.3 million and net income of $1.8 million or $0.07 per diluted share,
compared to net sales of $356.0 million and net income of $3.2 million or $0.13 per diluted share in the first quarter of the previous year.
Resales of pharmaceutical retail inventory were $33.8 million in the quarter ended March 27, 2004, as compared to $22.4 million in the quarter
ended March 29, 2003. Although gross margins increased from 19.8% last year to 20.0% this year, the decline in net income is principally due to
the following factors:

•  A $1.5 million increase in depreciation and amortization expense resulting from the depreciation of capital
expenditures made in 2003 and 2004 as well as increases in the amortization of identifiable intangibles resulting from
pharmacy acquisitions completed since the first quarter of 2003;

•  Pre-tax labor contingency expenses of $1.1 million related to a National Labor Relations Board Administrative
Law Judge�s recommendation in a collective bargaining agreement litigation related to funding of certain employee
benefit funds (see Note 3 to the Unaudited Consolidated Interim Financial Statements);

•  Pre-tax transaction expenses of $1.1 million related to the proposed merger; and

•  Increased legal and litigation related expenses by $0.6 million associated with certain labor issues, our attempt to
recover the balance of our World Trade Center business interruption insurance claim and various other matters.

The following sets forth the results of operations for the periods indicated.

Restated
For the 13 Weeks Ended
March 27, 2004 March 29, 2003
Dollars % of Sales Dollars % of Sales
In thousands, except percentages

Net sales $ 383,310 100.0 % $ 355,994 100.0 %
Cost of sales 306,808 80.0 285,414 80.2
Gross profit 76,502 20.0 70,580 19.8
Selling, general & administrative expenses 58,643 15.3 53,873 15.1
Labor contingency 1,100 0.3 � 0.0
Transaction expense 1,102 0.3 � 0.0
Depreciation and amortization 9,066 2.4 7,558 2.1
Store pre-opening expenses 157 0.0 416 0.1

70,068 18.3 61,847 17.4
Operating income 6,434 1.7 8,733 2.5
Interest expense, net 3,437 0.9 3,517 1.0
Debt extinguishment � 0.0 105 0.0
Income before income taxes 2,997 0.8 5,111 1.4
Income taxes 1,245 0.3 1,950 0.5
Net income $ 1,752 0.5 % $ 3,161 0.9 %

Thirteen Weeks Ended March 27, 2004 versus Thirteen Weeks Ended March 29, 2003

Net sales were $383.3 million in the first quarter of 2004, an increase of 7.7% over net sales of $356.0 million for the first quarter of 2003.
Resale activity accounted for 3.2% of this increase while normal retail sales to customers increased by 4.5% over this period. Same-store sales
increased by 1.6% over the first quarter last year with the balance of the increase coming from the full quarterly results of four net new stores
opened in the first quarter last year and 11 net new stores opened since the end of last year�s first quarter.
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Pharmacy sales increased from $166.2 million in the first quarter of 2003 to $192.2 million in the first quarter of 2004, an increase of 15.7%, and
represented 50.1% of total sales, as compared with 46.7% of total sales in the first quarter of 2003. Resale activity in 2004 accounted for 6.9% of
the pharmacy sales increase. Pharmacy same-store sales increased by 6.6% over last year, and third-party reimbursed pharmacy sales
represented 92.0% of total prescription sales compared to 91.1% in the first quarter of 2003. Pharmacy same-store sales continued to experience
the general industry trend of reduced growth rates experienced during fiscal 2003. The major factors driving the slower sales growth rates in
pharmacy were the trends toward increases in third party plan customer co-payments, reduced sales of hormonal replacement drugs, limitations
on maximum reimbursements for certain generic medications by third party plans and continued high rates of unemployment in our market areas
that have reduced the number of customers covered by insured plans.

Front-end sales increased from $189.8 million in the first quarter of 2003 to $191.1 million in the first quarter of 2004, an increase of 0.7%, and
represented 49.9% of total sales, as compared to 53.3% of total sales in the first quarter of 2003. Front-end same store sales declined by 2.3%,
largely due to declining tobacco sales in metro New York City, which has experienced increased restrictions on smoking in public places along
with higher taxes on tobacco products. Excluding tobacco sales, front-end same-store sales decreased by approximately 0.6%. We believe that
the remaining decline in same-store front-end sales is largely attributable to the continued high unemployment rates in New York City that have
restrained consumer demand.

During the first quarter of 2004, we opened three new stores and closed one store. At March 27, 2004, we operated 243 stores, as compared to
232 stores at March 29, 2003.

Cost of sales as a percentage of net sales decreased to 80.0% for the first quarter of 2004 from 80.2% for the first quarter of 2003, resulting in an
increase in gross profit margin to 20.0% for the first quarter of 2004 from 19.8% for the first quarter of 2003. This increase was primarily
attributable to higher front-end selling margins and reduced shrink losses. These improvements were partially offset by higher store occupancy
costs primarily resulting from higher rent expense attributable to new stores and store relocations. In addition, gross profit margins were
negatively impacted by the increased resale activity, which generally has gross margins of less than one percent of sales. Cost of sales also
includes a $0.3 million LIFO provision in the current year, as compared to a LIFO provision of $0.2 million in the prior year.

Selling, general and administrative expenses were $58.6 million, or 15.3% of net sales, and $53.9 million, or 15.1% of net sales, in the first
quarters of 2004 and 2003, respectively. The modest increase in the percentage of sales reflects the impact of increased resale activity, which
had the effect of reducing our operating expense ratios to sales. Because resale activity does not incur any significant selling, general and
administrative costs, we believe it is more informative to discuss such costs as a percentage of sales, excluding such resale activity. Excluding
the impact of the resale activity, SG&A expenses for the first quarter of 2004 and 2003 were 16.8% and 16.1% of net sales, respectively. The
increase in these expenses as a percentage of sales is primarily attributable to the higher legal and litigation related expenses discussed above,
increased promotional and advertising expenses, severance costs associated with certain administrative staff reductions and higher insurance
costs.

Depreciation and amortization of intangibles in the first quarters of 2004 and 2003 were $9.1 million and $7.6 million, respectively. This
increase resulted from the depreciation of capital expenditures made in 2003 and 2004 as well as increases in the amortization of identifiable
intangibles resulting from pharmacy acquisitions completed since the first quarter of 2003.

We incurred store pre-opening expenses of $0.2 million during the first quarter of 2004 related to the opening of three new stores. During the
comparable period last year, we incurred pre-opening expenses of $0.4 million related to the opening of seven new stores.

25

Edgar Filing: DUANE READE INC - Form 10-Q/A

29



Net interest expense decreased 2.3% to $3.4 million in the first quarter of 2004 from $3.5 million in the first quarter of 2003. This decline was
primarily attributable to the lower average interest rates on our outstanding revolving credit borrowings in the current year, as compared to the
interest rates incurred on our revolving credit and term loan borrowings in the prior year.

In the first quarter of 2003, we recorded a debt extinguishment charge of $0.1 million, reflecting the payment of early termination premiums
related to the retirement of the $1.6 million outstanding balance of the 9.25% senior notes and the write-off of the remaining deferred financing
costs associated with those notes.

In the first quarter of 2004, we recorded an income tax provision of $1.2 million, reflecting an estimated annual effective tax rate of 41.5%,
inclusive of the anticipated benefits of employment tax credits. In the comparable period last year, the income tax provision of $2.0 million
reflected an estimated effective tax rate of 38.2%, inclusive of the anticipated benefits of employment tax credits. The increase in the effective
tax rate reflects New York State legislation passed in May 2003 which eliminated certain tax deductions attributable to royalty companies. The
employment tax credits represent the economic benefits earned by us for our participation in various Federal and state hiring incentive programs.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Working capital was $148.0 million as of March 27, 2004 and 155.9 million as of December 27, 2003. Working capital reflects the classification
of outstanding borrowings under our revolving loan facility of $75.4 million at March 27, 2004 and $70.4 million at December 27, 2003 as
current liabilities. This current classification is required because cash receipts controlled by the lenders are used to reduce outstanding debt, and
we did not meet the criteria of FAS 6 to reclassify the debt as long-term but is not an indication that this credit facility is expected to be retired
within the next year. This facility expires in July of 2008 and we intend to continue to access it for our working capital needs throughout its
remaining term.

For the first quarter of 2004, net cash provided by operating activities was $12.2 million, as compared to $3.7 million in the first quarter of 2003.
The increase was principally due to reduced merchandise purchases during this year�s first quarter and the collection of certain property insurance
recoveries.

Net cash used in investing activities was $17.1 million during the first quarter of 2004, compared to $20.9 million during the first quarter of
2003. In the first quarter of 2004, capital expenditures, primarily related to new store openings and the remodeling of existing locations,
amounted to $7.9 million, while lease acquisition, pharmacy customer file and other costs accounted for $9.2 million of cash used in investing
activities. In the first quarter of 2003, we spent $14.2 million on capital expenditures and $6.7 million on lease acquisition, pharmacy customer
file and other costs.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $5.0 million for the first quarter of 2004, compared to $14.2 million for the first quarter of 2003.
The decrease primarily reflects the improved level of cash flow generated by operations.

Our capital requirements primarily result from opening and stocking new stores, remodeling and renovating existing retail locations, purchasing
pharmacy files and the continuing development of management information systems. We believe that there are significant opportunities to open
additional stores, and currently plan to open approximately 12 - 14 additional new stores during the remainder of this year (a total of 15 - 17 for
all of 2004), and 10-12 new stores in fiscal 2005. We expect to spend approximately $40.0 million in 2004 on capital expenditures, primarily for
new, renovated and replacement stores, and an additional $14 to $16 million for lease acquisition, pharmacy customer file and other costs. We
also require working capital to support inventory for our existing and new stores. Historically, we have been able to lease most of our store
locations.
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Leases for 10 of our stores that generated 4.1% of our net sales for fiscal 2003 are scheduled to expire before the end of 2005. One of these
leases has a renewal option. We believe that we will be able to renew the expiring leases on economically favorable terms or, alternatively, find
other economically attractive locations to lease.

As of March 27, 2004, approximately 5,600 of our approximately 6,100 employees were represented by various labor unions and were covered
by collective bargaining agreements. Pursuant to the terms of the collective bargaining agreements covering these employees, we are required, in
some instances, to pay specified annual increases in salary and benefits contributions relating to the member employees. We do not believe that
these increases will have a material impact on our liquidity or results of operations. Our collective bargaining agreement with Local 340A New
York Joint Board, UNITE AFL-CIO (�UNITE�), who represents approximately 700 of our employees in 113 stores, expired on March 31, 2004.
The terms of the expired contract have been extended by the mutual consent of UNITE and Duane Reade through May 31, 2004 while we
continue to negotiate the terms of a new agreement.

Under an employment agreement with our Chairman and CEO originally entered into in 1997 and subsequently amended in 2000 and 2001, and
then amended and restated in 2002, we are required to fund premiums for a split dollar life insurance policy that will provide certain
post-retirement benefits. During fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2003, the premiums amounted to $4.0 million and $5.0 million, respectively, and are
scheduled to remain at $5.0 million per year through 2010. The premiums have been established at a level anticipated to be sufficient to cover
the full amount of the projected retirement benefits, as well as to return the full cost of the premiums plus a 3% rate of interest to us. Recent
Sarbanes-Oxley legislation has resulted in the need for additional guidance concerning the permissibility of split dollar life insurance policies for
executives. While we believe this split dollar policy is permitted under current interpretations of the legislation, there can be no assurance that
further interpretations or guidance to be provided by the SEC concerning this legislation will concur.

Our planned acquisition by Duane Reade Acquisition will be financed as an all cash transaction whereby our stockholders will receive $17.00
per share outstanding, without interest, on the date of the closing, which is expected to occur during the second calendar quarter of 2004. The
total transaction value, including the repayment of indebtedness and transaction-related expenses is approximately $742 million, which will be
funded through new equity investments of approximately $242 million and debt of approximately $500 million. Upon closing, we expect to have
approximately $90 million of borrowing availability under an amendment to our revolving credit facility (the �Credit Agreement�) and no debt
amortization requirements or significant maturities until July 2008.

Our debt structure has two primary components, senior convertible notes (�Convertible Notes�) and the Credit Agreement. The Convertible Notes
were issued on April 16, 2002 at a discounted value equivalent to 57.276% of face value. The Convertible Notes pay cash interest semiannually
at a rate of 2.1478% of face value for the first five years and thereafter accrue original issue discount at a semi-annual bond equivalent rate of
3.75% yield to maturity on April 16, 2022. The Convertible Notes are convertible into shares of our common stock upon the occurrence of
certain specified events. Holders of the Convertible Notes may require us to purchase all or a portion of the Convertible Notes on each of the 5,
10 and 15-year anniversaries of the issuance date at pre-specified prices. We may redeem for cash all or a portion of the Convertible Notes at
any time after April 16, 2007 at a price equal to the sum of the issue price plus accrued original issue discount and accrued cash interest, if any,
to the redemption date. The Credit Agreement, which we entered into on July 21, 2003, is an asset-based revolving loan which uses a
pre-determined percentage of the current value of our inventory, customer prescription files and selected accounts receivable to calculate the
availability of funds eligible to be borrowed, up to an aggregate principal amount of $200 million. Borrowings under this facility are principally
LIBOR-based, with the margin fixed at 1.75% for the first year and subject to a sliding scale adjustment thereafter, based on remaining levels of
availability. This facility matures on July 20, 2008.
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We believe that, based on current levels of operations and anticipated growth, cash flow from operations, together with other available sources
of funds, including revolving loan borrowings under our Credit Agreement, will be adequate for at least the next two years to make required
payments of principal and interest on our indebtedness, to fund anticipated capital expenditures and to satisfy our working capital requirements.
We base this belief on our existing levels of cash flow from operations of approximately $40 million annually and significant additional
borrowing capacity under our Credit Agreement which amounted to over $120 million at March 27, 2004. Our ability to meet our debt service
obligations and reduce our total debt will depend upon our future performance which, in turn, will be subject to general economic, financial,
business, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other conditions, many of which are beyond our control. In addition, we cannot assure you that
our operating results, cash flow and capital resources will be sufficient for repayment of our indebtedness in the future. Such risks that could
adversely affect our ability to meet our debt service obligations include but are not limited to reductions in third party prescription
reimbursement rates, further declines in the New York City economy, increases in competitive activity, additional business adverse legislative
changes or a major disruption of business in our markets from a terrorist event or natural disaster. Our borrowings under our Credit Agreement
bear interest at floating rates. Therefore, our financial condition will be affected by changes in prevailing interest rates. As of March 27, 2004,
we had $75.4 million of borrowings outstanding under our asset-based revolving credit agreement and there was $123.4 million of remaining
availability, net of $1.2 million reserved for outstanding Standby Letters of Credit. Obligations under this facility have been classified as current
liabilities because cash receipts controlled by the lenders are used to reduce outstanding debt, and we do not meet the criteria of FAS 6 to
reclassify the debt as long-term. We intend to continue to utilize this facility for our working capital needs through the date of its maturity in July
2008.

The Credit Agreement contains a single fixed charge coverage requirement which only becomes applicable when borrowings exceed 90 percent
of the borrowing base, as defined in the Credit Agreement. Borrowings under the Credit Agreement have not exceeded 90 percent of the
borrowing base and, as a result, the fixed charge covenant did not become applicable during the period. There are no credit ratings related
triggers in the Credit Agreement or in the indenture related to the Convertible Notes.

There have been no material changes in the Contractual Obligations and Commitments disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, and
related amendments, for the year ended December 27, 2003, except that we paid the annual $5.0 million premium due in connection with the
CEO Split Dollar Life Insurance Policy. The remaining fixed premium obligation under the terms of this policy amounts to $30.0 million.

We are party to multi-year, merchandise supply agreements in the normal course of business. The largest of these agreements is with
AmerisourceBergen, our primary pharmaceutical supplier. Generally, these agreements provide for certain volume commitments and may be
terminated by us, subject in some cases to specified termination payments, none of which would constitute a material adverse effect on our
financial position, results of operations or cash flows. It is the opinion of management that if any of these agreements were terminated or if any
contracting party was to experience events precluding fulfillment of its obligations, we would be able to find a suitable alternative supplier.

In addition to Mr. Cuti�s post-retirement benefits discussed above, in the event of a change of control or our failure to renew Mr. Cuti�s current
employment agreement that expires on December 31, 2004, we will be required to pay severance benefits equal to five times the �earnings
amount� of approximately $4.1 million (based upon the sum of Mr. Cuti�s current annual salary, maximum incentive bonus and a supplemental
non-compete payment).

At March 27, 2004 we recorded a litigation-related non-current liability of $13.7 million in connection with a National Labor Relations Board
Administrative Law Judge recommendation in a litigation-related matter with the Allied Trades Council, a union representing employees in 139
of our stores. Because this recommendation is only the initial phase of a complex administrative and judicial process, the ultimate outcome,
financial impact and related timing of any future cash disbursement relating to this matter can
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not be determined at this time. This matter is more fully described in Note 3 to the Unaudited Consolidated Interim Financial Statements.

We are not a party to any agreements with, or commitments to, any special purpose entities that would constitute material off-balance sheet
financing other than the operating lease commitments detailed in the Contractual Obligations and Commitments table presented in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 27, 2003 and related amendments.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our discussion of results of operations and financial condition relies on our consolidated financial statements that are prepared based on certain
critical accounting policies that require management to make judgements and estimates that are subject to varying degrees of uncertainty. We
believe that investors need to be aware of these policies and how they impact our financial reporting to gain a more complete understanding of
our consolidated financial statements as a whole, as well as our related discussion and analysis presented herein. While we believe that these
accounting policies are grounded on sound measurement criteria, actual future events can and often do result in outcomes that can be materially
different from these estimates or forecasts. The accounting policies and related risks described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 27, 2003 and related amendments are those that depend most heavily on these judgments and estimates. At March 27, 2004,
there have been no material changes to any of the Critical Accounting Policies contained therein.

Seasonality

In general, sales of drugstore items such as prescription drugs, over-the-counter drugs and health and beauty care products exhibit limited
seasonality in the aggregate, but do vary by product category. Quarterly results are primarily affected by the timing of new store openings and
the sale of seasonal products, with the Christmas holiday season generating a higher proportion of sales and earnings than other periods.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2002, SFAS No. 148, �Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation�Transition and Disclosure� was issued. This statement provides
alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation.
We have not adopted such voluntary change to the fair value based method. In addition, this statement amends the disclosure requirements of
SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosures about the method of accounting for stock-based compensation and the effect of the method used
on reported results. As required, we adopted the disclosure-only provisions of FAS No. 148 effective in 2002.

ITEM 3.  MARKET RISK

Our financial results are subject to risk from interest rate fluctuations on debt, which carries variable interest rates. Variable rate debt outstanding
under our Credit Agreement was approximately $75.4 million at March 27, 2004. At March 27, 2004, the weighted average combined interest
rate in effect on all borrowings under the Credit Agreement was 2.85%. A 0.50% change in interest rates applied to the $75.4 million balance of
floating rate debt would affect pre-tax annual results of operations by approximately $0.4 million. In addition, we also have $201.0 million of
Convertible Notes outstanding at March 27, 2004. The Convertible Notes bear interest payable semi-annually at a fixed rate of 3.75%, and are
therefore not subject to risk from interest rate fluctuations.
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The principal objective of our investment management activities is to maintain acceptable levels of interest rate and liquidity risk to facilitate our
funding needs. As part of our risk management, we may use derivative financial products such as interest rate hedges and interest rate swaps in
the future.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a)   Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.   An evaluation was carried out under the supervision and
with the participation of the Company�s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules
13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) as of the end of the period covered by this
quarterly report. Based upon that evaluation, the Company�s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, have each concluded that the design and operation of these disclosure controls and procedures
were not effective as of the end of the period covered by this report based on the identification of material weaknesses
in the Company�s internal control over financial reporting described in the Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K/A
filed on May 16, 2005.  This conclusion has been changed from the disclosure in the Company�s original Form 10-Q
filing.  For a discussion of the reasons and matters on which these conclusions were based, as well as the subsequent
actions taken by the Company to strengthen its controls and procedures in these areas, see Item 9A of the Company�s
Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the fiscal year ended December 25, 2004, filed on May 16, 2005.

(b)      Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting.   No changes in our internal control over financial
reporting ( as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) occurred during our
last fiscal quarter covered by this quarterly report that have materially affected, or are reasonably assured to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II�OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. Legal Proceedings

We are party to legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. Based on information presently available to us, we believe that we have
adequate legal defenses or insurance coverage for these actions and that the ultimate outcome of these actions will not have a materially adverse
effect on the financial position, results of operations or cash flows of our company. In addition, we are a party to the following legal actions and
matters:

During 2002, we initiated a legal action against our former property insurance carrier, in an attempt to recover what we believe to be a fair and
reasonable settlement for the business interruption portion of our claim originating from the September 11, 2001 World Trade Center terrorist
attack, during which our single highest volume and most profitable store was completely destroyed. In September 2003, a trial on certain issues
was held regarding some of the matters at issue in the litigation, including whether we would have obtained a renewal of our lease at the World
Trade Center. We have received a favorable ruling on this and other legal issues in the case and now the matter has moved into an appraisal
process. The appraisal process involves two appraisers and an umpire (to resolve differences between the two appraisers) who will determine the
amount of insured loss we have sustained. The insurance carrier has appealed a number of rulings by the trial court. In light of both the early
stage of the appraisal process and the inherent uncertainty in litigation relating to our appeal, the amount of additional insurance proceeds, if any,
that we may collect under the terms of our insurance contract with the defendant cannot be reasonable predicted or determined at this time. In
fiscal 2002, we received an advance of approximately $9.4 million toward the business interruption claim that was recognized as a separate
component of income in the consolidated statement of income. In the event of an unfavorable outcome to us, this amount would not be required
to be returned to the insurance company.

Duane Reade Inc., Anthony J. Cuti, our Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, John K. Henry, our Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer and Gary Charboneau, our Senior Vice President of Sales and Marketing have been named as defendants in connection with
the consolidation of several class action complaints alleging violations of the federal securities laws that were filed from August 2002 through
October 2002. The action, which is in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, is on behalf of shareholders who
purchased our common stock between April 1, 2002 and July 24, 2002, inclusive. The complaint, which seeks an unspecified amount of
damages, alleges that the defendants violated the federal securities laws by issuing materially false and misleading statements during the class
period. On December 1, 2003, the district judge granted our motion to dismiss the plaintiffs� action, with prejudice. The plaintiffs have filed an
appeal. We continue to believe that the plaintiff�s actions are completely baseless and wholly without merit, and intend to continue to vigorously
defend ourselves.

We are a defendant in a class action suit in the Federal Court for the Southern District of New York regarding alleged violations of the Fair
Labor Standards Act as to a group of individuals who provided delivery services on a contract basis to us. In December 2002, the judge in the
action issued a partial summary judgment in favor of a subclass of the plaintiffs and against us. In December 2003, we settled the issue of the
amount of our liability to the plaintiffs without any admission of wrongdoing and in an amount consistent with our previously established
reserves. The amount of attorney�s fees owed to the plaintiffs� attorneys remains an open issue in the case and we plan to vigorously defend
claims by these attorneys for fees. It is not anticipated that the amount of attorneys fees that would be required to be paid in this matter would be
material to our business and operations.

We are a party to a National Labor Relations Board (NLRB) administrative proceeding regarding a dispute with the Allied Trades Council over
whether a negotiating impasse was reached between us and the union in August of 2001. The Allied Trades Council represents employees in 139
of our stores in a
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collective bargaining agreement that expired on August 31, 2001. Our employees have been working pursuant to the terms of our December 6,
2001 implemented contract with the ATC, which expires on August 31, 2004. We believe an impasse did in fact occur and as a result, we had
the right to implement our latest contract proposal at that time which included wage increases, health and welfare benefits, vacation and sick
benefits and a 401k retirement program. We discontinued making additional payments into the various funds associated with the union as we
were providing many of these benefits on a direct basis and because our past contributions to these funds had caused these funds to be in a
position of excessive overfunding. In addition, we had concerns that our past payments into these funds were not being managed in a way to
ensure they were being properly utilized for the benefit of our employees. On February 18, 2004, an Administrative Law Judge (�ALJ�) who had
reviewed various matters related to this proceeding issued a decision and related recommendation, which concluded that the parties were not at
impasse. The remedies recommended by the ALJ included, among other things, a requirement for us to make our employees whole by
reimbursing them for expenses ensuing from the failure to make contributions to the union funds and to make such funds whole, plus interest. If
this recommendation is adopted by the full NLRB and enforced by the circuit court of appeals, it could result in our being required to contribute
amounts that have yet to be determined into the union�s pension benefit, health and welfare and vacation funds. Any potential required
contributions resulting from a final judicial determination of this matter would potentially be subject to offset by the amounts that we had funded
since we implemented our final contract proposal for these same benefits that were paid for our Allied Trades Council employees. Because this
is just the first phase of a long and complicated administrative process likely to be followed by a full judicial review of all of the facts and
circumstances, the final outcome cannot be reliably determined at this time. The ALJ�s recommendation is not a binding order and has no force
and effect of law. Rather, it is a recommendation to the full NLRB in Washington D.C., which will conduct a complete review at some point in
the future and decide to uphold, reject or modify the recommendation. The full NLRB decision is also subject to judicial review by the circuit
court of appeals and a compliance hearing before any financial remedy can be determined. While there can be no definitive assurance, we have
been advised by our outside labor counsel that we have numerous meritorious defenses and arguments in response to the ALJ�s recommendation.

In light of the foregoing, while it is our belief that the final financial outcome of this litigation cannot be determined, under the provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (�FAS�) No. 5 which addresses these contingencies, we recorded a pre-tax charge of $12.6 million for
the year ended December 27, 2003 and an additional pre-tax charge of $1.1 million in the quarter ended March 27, 2004. These charges
represent our current best estimate of the loss that would result upon application of the ALJ�s recommendation. We note that such charges were
based upon the facts available to us at the time. In our opinion, such charges could be subject to significant modification in the future, upon
review by the full NLRB, the Federal Circuit Court of Appeals, completion of a compliance hearing and any appeals relating to the outcome of
that hearing. These charges reflect the amount of contributions that we did not make into the union benefit funds for the period from the
August 31, 2001 expiration of the contract through March 27, 2004, reduced by a portion of the benefits we paid directly to or for the benefit of
these employees over the same period. It also includes an interest cost for these net contributions from the date they would have been paid until
March 27, 2004. While this represents our best estimate of the ALJ�s recommendation, we believe that the actual range of loss in this matter
could be from $0, if the ALJ�s recommendation is not followed, to approximately $28 million, if the ALJ�s recommendation is upheld and there is
no offset for any benefits paid over this period.

Until such time as further legal developments warrant a change in the application of this accounting standard, or until this matter is resolved, we
will record additional non-cash pre-tax charges, which are calculated on the same basis as the charges recorded in the 2003 financial statements.
We currently estimate that the charge in 2004 will approximate $4.4 million.
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We are a party to related lawsuits, Irving Kroop, et al v. Duane Reade, NY, NY et al, 00 Civ. 9841, et al., instituted by the trustees of several
union benefit funds wherein the funds claim that we did not make certain required contributions to these funds from January 2000 through
August 2001. The plaintiffs have recently filed a motion seeking summary judgment of $2.29 million of claims for alleged underfunding and
related penalties and interest. In addition, at various times, the plaintiffs have stated that they believe we may owe additional amounts. However,
any additional amounts that the plaintiffs may claim are not known at this time. We have filed a motion opposing these claims. We believe that
we have made sufficient contributions to these funds and that we have meritorious defenses to the claims being made by these funds.
Accordingly, we intend to vigorously defend ourselves in these matters. At this time, it is not possible to determine the ultimate outcome of this
case or the actual amount of liability we may face, if any.

We are involved in an ongoing dispute with Cardinal Health, one of our former suppliers of pharmaceutical products. Both parties have claims
against the other involving, among other things, breach of contract, promissory estoppel and unjust enrichment. Duane Reade is seeking from
Cardinal an unspecified amount of damages and punitive damages of at least $20 million. Cardinal is seeking approximately $18 million in
damages plus attorney�s fees and interest. While there can be no definitive assurance, we believe we have counterclaims that offset the claims
against us by Cardinal, as well as meritorious defenses to these claims, and plan to vigorously pursue our affirmative claims and to vigorously
defend ourself in this action. Non-party discovery in the case has concluded and it is expected to go to trial sometime in 2004.

A New York State Tax Appeals Tribunal ruling in a matter involving another company may have an adverse impact upon our New York State
Franchise Tax filings from years 1999 through 2002. This matter relates to the required combination of affiliated subsidiaries in recognizing
royalty fee and related income for intangible property. The ruling of the Tribunal is subject to further legal appeal and interpretation in light of
our own specific facts and circumstances. The outcome of this matter, and the resulting amount of additional income tax expense, if any, cannot
be determined by us at this time.

Litigation Relating to the Merger Transaction

We are aware of six purported class action complaints challenging the merger transaction that have been filed in the Court of Chancery of the
State of Delaware, referred to as the �Delaware Complaints,� and three purported class action complaints that have been filed in the Supreme
Court of the State of New York. Two of the New York complaints have been dismissed without prejudice. The other New York complaint (the
�New York Complaint�) is pending, but has not been served on Duane Reade. The Delaware Complaints name Mr. Cuti and certain other
members of our board of directors and executive officers as well as us as defendants. Four of the Delaware Complaint names Oak Hill as a
defendant. The New York Complaint names Mr. Cuti and certain other members of our board of directors and executive officers as well as us as
defendants. One of the dismissed New York complaints named Oak Hill as a defendant.

The Delaware Complaints were consolidated on January 28, 2004, and on April 8, 2004 the plaintiffs in the Delaware actions filed a
consolidated class action complaint (the �Consolidated Complaint�).

The Consolidated Complaint alleges that defendants failed to disclose material information in the preliminary proxy statement, which was filed
with the SEC on March 19, 2004. Specifically, the Consolidated Complaint alleges that the defendants failed to disclose: (1) the precise nature
of the �Current Employment Agreement Estimated Payments,� as that term is used in the preliminary proxy, and the reasons for these payments:
(2) the materials and data purportedly used by Bear Stearns in calculating the �Current Employment Agreement Estimated Payments,� instead of
the disclosure in the preliminary proxy statement that these calculations were �approximations based on various assumptions since the
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precise amounts payable would require actuarial or other expert valuation,� even though Bear Stearns allegedly relied on these calculations;
(3) the methodology, projections and other information used by Bear Stearns to calculate the estimated present value of the company; (4) that the
merger consideration represented an approximately 11.7% premium based upon the trading price of Duane Reade shares on December 22, 2003,
instead of the disclosure in the preliminary proxy that shareholders would be receiving a much higher premium of 22.0%. The Consolidated
Complaint and the New York Complaint allege, among other things, that the defendants purportedly breached duties owed to Duane Reade�s
stockholders in connection with the transaction by failing to: (a) appropriately value Duane Reade as a merger candidate; (b) expose Duane
Reade to the marketplace in an effort to obtain the best transaction reasonably available, including to market Duane Reade to industry
participants; and (c) adequately ensure that no conflicts of interest exist between defendants� own interests and their fiduciary obligation to
maximize stockholder value. Plaintiffs seek, among other things: an order that the complaints are properly maintainable as a class action; a
declaration that defendants have breached their fiduciary duties and other duties; injunctive relief; an unspecified amount of monetary damages;
attorneys� fees, costs and expenses; and such other and further relief as the court may deem just and proper. We believe these lawsuits are without
merit and plan to defend these lawsuits vigorously.

ITEM 2.  Changes in Securities and Use of Proceeds

Not applicable

ITEM 3.  Defaults Upon Senior Securities

Not applicable

ITEM 4.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

Not applicable

ITEM 5.  Other Information

Not applicable
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ITEM 6.  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K

(a)  The following documents are filed as a part of this report:

(i)  Financial Statements

(ii)  Exhibits:

Exhibit No. Description
2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of December 22, 2003, by and among Duane Reade Inc., Rex Corner

Holdings, LLC and Rex Corner Acquisition Corp. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company�s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on December 23, 2003).

3.1(i) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1(i) to the
Company�s Registration Statement No. 333-41239 (the �Common Stock S-1�)).

3.1(ii) Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to Amendment No. 1 to the Company�s Registration Statement on Form S-3 dated July 22, 2001).

3.1(iii) Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1(ii) to the Common Stock
S-1).

3.2(i) Certificate of Incorporation of DRI I Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2(i) to the S-1 Registration Statement
No. 333-43313 with respect to the Company�s 91⁄4% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2008 (the �Notes
S-1�)).

3.2(ii) By-laws of DRI I Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2(ii) of the Notes S-1).
3.3 Second Amended and Restated Partnership Agreement of Duane Reade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 of

the Notes S-1).
3.4(i) Certificate of Incorporation of Duane Reade International, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4(i) to the

Company�s Annual Report on Form 10�K for the year ended December 25, 1999 (the �1999 10-K�)).
3.4(ii) By-laws of Duane Reade International, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4(ii) to the 1999 10-K).
3.5(i) Certificate of Incorporation of Duane Reade Realty, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.5(i) to the 1999

10-K).
3.5(ii) By-laws of Duane Reade Realty, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.5(ii) to the 1999 10-K).
4.1 Form of Indenture (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Notes S-1).
4.2 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 20, 2002, between Duane Reade Inc., the Subsidiary Guarantors, and

State Street Bank, as trustee (incorporated by reference to the Company�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
period ended September 28, 2002).

4.3 Indenture, dated as of April 16, 2002, between Duane Reade Inc., as issuer, the guarantors named therein and State
Street Bank and Trust Company, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company�s Registration
Statement on Form S-3 dated June 21, 2002 (the �Convertible Notes S-3�)).

4.4 Form of Senior Convertible Notes due 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Convertible Notes S-3).
10.1 Duane Reade Inc. 1997 Equity Participation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Common Stock

S-1).
10.2 Duane Reade Inc. Holding Corp. 1992 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Common

Stock S-1).
10.3 Employment Agreement, dated as of February 22, 1993, as amended, between the Company and Gary Charboneau

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Common Stock S-1).
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10.4 Employment Agreement, dated as of April 10, 1995, as amended, between Duane Reade and Jerry M. Ray (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Common Stock S-1).

10.5 Employment Letter Agreement, dated as of October 9, 1996, between Duane Reade and Joseph Lacko (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Common Stock S-1).

10.6 Agreement, dated as of November 22, 1996, as amended, between Duane Reade and Drug, Chemical, Cosmetic, Plastics
and Affiliated Industries Warehouse Employees Local 815 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Common Stock
S-1).

10.7 Agreement, dated December 6, 2001, between Duane Reade and Allied Trades Council (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.8 to the Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 29, 2001 (the �2001 10-K�)).

10.8 Employment Letter, dated June 10, 1999, between the Company and John K. Henry (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.18 to the 1999 10-K).

10.9 Agreement, dated April 1, 2001, between Duane Reade and Local 340A New York Joint Board, UNITE AFL-CIO
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the 2001 10-K).

10.10 First Amendment to Stockholders and Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of January 16, 2002, by and among Duane
Reade Inc. and the stockholders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.9 to the Convertible Notes S-3).

10.11 Preferability Letter, dated as of May 13, 2002, issued by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, with respect to the Company�s
change in accounting method of inventory valuation (incorporated by reference to the Company�s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the period ended March 30, 2002).

10.12 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated August 12, 2002, between the Company and Anthony J. Cuti
(incorporated by reference to the Company�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 29, 2002).

10.13 Shareholder Rights Agreement, dated as of September 12, 2002, between the Company and EquiServe Trust Company,
N.A., as Rights Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company�s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated
September 12, 2002).

10.14 Third Amendment to the 1997 Equity Participation Plan, dated May 8, 2003 (incorporated by reference to the Company�s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 28, 2003).

10.15 Employment Letter, dated June 24, 2003, between the Company and Timothy R. LaBeau (incorporated by reference to the
Company�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 28, 2003).

10.16 Credit Agreement, dated as of July 21, 2003, among Duane Reade, as the Borrower, Duane Reade Inc. and corporate
subsidiaries as the Facility Guarantors, Various Financial Institutions set forth therein, as the Lenders, Fleet National Bank
as the Administrative Agent and Issuing Bank, Fleet Retail Finance Inc. as the Collateral Agent, General Electric Capital
Corporation as the Syndication Agent for the Lenders and Congress Financial Corporation as the Documentation Agent for
the Lenders (incorporated by reference to the Company�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 28,
2003).

10.17 Facility Guarantee, dated as of July 21, 2003, among the Facility Guarantors, Fleet Retail Finance Inc., Fleet National Bank
and the Lenders (incorporated by reference to the Company�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 28,
2003).

10.18 Intellectual Property Security Agreement, dated as of July 21, 2003, between Duane Reade, the Facility Guarantors and
Fleet Retail Finance Inc., as Collateral Agent (incorporated by reference to the Company�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the period ended June 28, 2003).

36

Edgar Filing: DUANE READE INC - Form 10-Q/A

40



10.19 Security Agreement, dated as of July 21, 2003, among Duane Reade, the Facility Guarantors, and Fleet Retail Finance Inc.,
as Collateral Agent (incorporated by reference to the Company�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended
June 28, 2003).

10.20 Ownership Interest Pledge Agreement, dated as of July 21, 2003, among Duane Reade Inc. and DRI I Inc., and Fleet Retail
Finance Inc., as Collateral Agent (incorporated by reference to the Company�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period
ended June 28, 2003).

10.21 Amendment No. 1 to Shareholder Rights Agreement, dated as of December 19, 2003, between the Company and EquiServe
Trust Company, N.A., as Rights Agent Council (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Company�s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 27, 2003 (the �2003 10-K�)).

14.1 Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14.1 to the 2003 10-K).
21.1 Subsidiaries of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21.1 to the 1999 10-K).
23.1 Consent of Independent Accountants (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 23.1 to the 2003 10-K).
23.2 Consent of Independent Accountants (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 23.2 to the 2003 10-K).
31.1* Sarbanes-Oxley Section 302 Certification of the Company�s Chief Executive Officer (�CEO�).
31.2* Sarbanes-Oxley Section 302 Certification of the Company�s Chief Financial Officer (�CFO�).
32.0* Sarbanes-Oxley Section 906 Certifications of the Company�s CEO and CFO.

*  filed herewith

(b)  Reports on Form 8-K:

On March 12, 2004, the Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K which contained, as an exhibit, a press release providing information with
respect to a revision to the Company�s previously announced financial results for the 13 weeks ended December 27, 2003.

On April 21, 2004, the Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K which contained, as an exhibit, a press release providing information with
respect to the Company�s financial results for the 13 weeks ended March 27, 2004.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: May 16, 2005
DUANE READE, INC.
(Registrant)
By: /s/ JOHN K. HENRY

Name: John K. Henry
Title: Senior Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant in the capacities indicated on May 16, 2005.

SIGNATURES TITLES
/s/ ANTHONY J. CUTI President and Chief Executive Officer and Director

Anthony J. Cuti (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ JOHN K. HENRY Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

John K. Henry (Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: May 16, 2005
DRI I INC.
By: /s/ JOHN K. HENRY

Name: John K. Henry
Title: Senior Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed on May 16, 2005 by:

SIGNATURES TITLES
/s/ ANTHONY J. CUTI President and Chief Executive Officer and Director

Anthony J. Cuti (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ JOHN K. HENRY Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

John K. Henry (Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: May 16, 2005
DUANE READE

By: DRI I INC., a general partner By: DUANE READE INC., a general
partner

By: /s/ JOHN K. HENRY By: /s/ JOHN K. HENRY
Name: John K. Henry Name: John K. Henry
Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Title: Senior Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below on May 16, 2005 by the following
persons in the capacities indicated with respect to Duane Reade Inc. and DRI I Inc., the general partners of Duane Reade, on behalf of Duane
Reade (except as otherwise indicated):

SIGNATURES TITLES
/s/ ANTHONY J. CUTI President and Chief Executive Officer and Director

Anthony J. Cuti (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ JOHN K. HENRY Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

John K. Henry (Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: May 16, 2005
DUANE READE REALTY, INC.
By: /s/ JOHN K. HENRY

Name: John K. Henry
Title: Senior Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed on May 16, 2005 by:

SIGNATURES TITLES
/s/ ANTHONY J. CUTI President and Chief Executive Officer and Director

Anthony J. Cuti (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ JOHN K. HENRY Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

John K. Henry (Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: May 16, 2005
DUANE READE INTERNATIONAL, INC.
By: /s/ JOHN K. HENRY

Name: John K. Henry
Title: Senior Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed on May 16, 2005 by:

SIGNATURES TITLES
/s/ GARY CHARBONEAU President and Chief Executive Officer and Director

Gary Charboneau (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ JOHN K. HENRY Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

John K. Henry (Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)
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